IN THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS 


AT CHARLESTON 


INRE: THE MARRIAGE OF: 

KIMBERLEY A. MORRIS, 
Respondent Below, 

Petitioner, 

vs. No. 13-0742 

DOUGLAS SHANE MORRIS, 
Petitioner Below, 

Respondent, 

PETITIONER'S BRIEF 

Comes now the Petitioner, KIMBERLEY A. MORRIS, Respondent 

below (hereafter 'Petitioner Wife'), by her counsel, James Wilson Douglas, pursuant to Rule 5(g) 

ofthe Revised Rules ofAppellate Procedure of the West Virginia Supreme Court ofAppeals, 

and in and for her Brief for timely appeal oftp'e Order below, does aver, depose and say, as 

follows:

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. 	 ERROR ONE: FAILURE TO EMPLOY A STRICTER STANDARD FOR 

WEIGIDNG THE VALIDITY AND ENFORCEABILTY OF A POST -NUPTIAL 

AGREEMENT IN A DIVORCE ACTION AS OPPOSED TO A PRE-NUPTIAL 

AGREEMENT. 


The Circuit Court erred below by not assessing the validity and enforceabilty of 
a post-nuptial agreement with greater scrutiny than a pre-nuptial agreement. 

When dealing with post-nuptial contracts, "the utmost fairness and good faith" 



should be observed by the party who gains the most from the transaction. In the case of a pre

nuptial, a party can refuse to consummate the anticipated marriage. This is wholly different in the 

case where the party to the post-nuptial agreement is already in the marriage and may have a 

number of other considerations, such as children, standard of living, etc. Therefore, coercion, undue 

influence and duress, though less obvious and more subtle, can be just as effective and overbearing 

as the actual use of force in causing a party to enter into a post-nuptial contract. 

Standards of review: Abuse of discretion, clearly erroneous and de novo. 

2. 	 ERROR TWO: OVERTURNING THE FAMILY COURT'S RULING FINDING 
THAT THE FEBRUARY 11, 2009 POST -NUPTIAL AGREEMENT WAS NOT FAIR 
AND EQUITABLE. 

The Circuit Court erred below by upholding a post-nuptial, drafted by the 
Respondent Husband's Attorney, that (a) consigned a disproportionate percentage o/marital 
assets to the Respondent Husband, (b) did not attach documentation confirming the extent and 
values ofproperty, (c) did not include all marital assets, and (d) severely understated the 
anticipated annual income o/the Respondent Husband who received the larger share ofmarital 
assets. 

Under the Post-Nuptial Agreement, sub judice, the Respondent Husband would 

receive $4,662,738.00 worth of alleged separate/marital property, while the Petitioner Wife would 

receive a mere $90,000.00 worth ofalleged separate property. In short, the total marital estate of 

$4,752,738.00 would give the Respondent Husband 98.11% of the entire marital estate, while the 

Petitioner Wife would be left with only 1.89% of said marital estate. 

In addition to not includihg all arguably marital or separate assets, the Respondent 

Husband attached no documentation to the subject Post-Nuptial Agreement to substantiate the 

fmancial and asset statements appended thereto as exhibits. 

Also, the Respondent Husband grossly under-reported his anticipated income by 

75% when indexed against his actual income for the year (2009) of the execution of said Post-

Nuptial Agreement, and by over 88.04% when compared to the preceding year of2008. 
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Standards of review: Abuse of discretion and clearly erroneous. 

3. 	 ERROR THREE: DETERMINING THAT RETAINED EARNINGS ARE THE 
ASSETS OF A "FLOW THROUGH" CORPORATION,RATHER THAN 
DISTRIBUTABLE MARITAL ASSETS SIMILAR TO ACTIVE APPRECIATION 
OF A SEPARATE BUSINESS, WAS ERRONEOUS. 

The Circuit Court below erred, as a matter oflaw, when it overruled the Family 
Court and classified retained earnings ofa "flow through" corporation, as corporate assets, 
controlled by the 2009 Post-Nuptial Agreement, notwithstanding that the shareholder 
Respondent Husband and Wife hadpaid income taxes on the retained earnings both before and 
after the Post-Nuptial Agreement. 

Retained earnings are not true assets of a corporation, such as a corporate purchase 

ofan automobile in its name. Said monies, upon which the Parties were already taxed herein, 

actually represent undistributed dividends or after tax income, that can be considered re

contributions ofthe Parties to the capital ofthe corporation. Simply put, the corpora,te earnings 

are taxed to the Parties, but some of the Parties' after tax earnings are left in the corporation to 

insure adequate capitalization, as if the monies had been withdrawn and then redeposited. Retained 

eafmngs can also be explained as the measure of active appreciation of a corporation. 

The tax driven structure of the subject Corporation, was, at separation of the 

shareholding Parties herein, a qualified "sub-chapter S" or a "flow through" corporation. This 

means that the profits l of the Corporation "flow through" to the shareholders as if they were 

partners, in that, the only taxes on those profits/income are those paid by the shareholders, not the 

Corporation. 

Standard of review: De novo. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1 Retained earnings are but residue ofprofits kept or 'retained' in a corporation. 
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Having met at Glenville State College, the Parties hereto entered into marriage on 

June 30, 1992 and had two children, one ofeach gender, both ofwhom are now emancipated2• The 

Respondent Husband herein, Douglas Shane Morris, was the scion of the Glenville oil and gas 

tycoon, 1. L. Morris; and in hope of the Respondent Husband ascending to his father's station at 

some point in the future, he became a part owner in the family petroleum business called Waco Oil 

and Gas, Inc. 

The Fates decreed otherwise. When the Respondent Husband's father became 

disenchanted with the Respondent Husband's hedonistic and irresponsible life style, the Respondent 

Husband was terminated and his interest in Waco was purchased by his disappointed parent. 

Thereafter, the Parties hereto, with two young children in tow, relocated to Roanoke, Virginia, 

where they purchased, with the Parties' Waco "buy-out" monies in 2002, anopulent fifteen room, 

multilevel, 6700 square feet mansion, which was to be the family'S residence through mid 2005, 

when they returned to Gilmer County from Virginia. The mechanics and motivations for the 2005 

return3 were and are especially relevant to the principal issues raised in this case . 

. Due to the Respondent Husband's substance abuse, he and the Petitioner had 

separated in Virginia about mid-December 2004. In an effort to reconcile, and to raise their 

children in an intact home, the Respondent Husband promised the Petitioner that if she would 

reunite with him and come back to Glenville, he would build a comparable (to the Roanoke) home 

in Gilmer County. The Petitioner relented and agreed to reconcile on those terms. The Parties did 

indeed return to Gilmer County, and at first lived in Waco's airport hanger, and then the Parties 

 


3The following factual representations are summarized from the July 11,2012 in-Court 

testimony of the Petitioner. 
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purchased what the Petitioner thought was to be a temporary dwelling in the form of a double wide 

modular home. 

For the next three plus years or into the beginning of2009, the Petitioner and her 

two (2) children, much to her frustration and embarrassment, occupied a domicile that the Petitioner 

stated would have fit within the bottom floor ofher former 6700 square feet Roanoke home. 

The Respondent Husband made various excuses for his failure to fulfill his earlier 

promise regarding the erection of a much grander residence, and the Petitioner's desperation and 

irritation with her and the children's living arrangements brought matters to the point that the 

Parties briefly separated for a second time in early 2009. After another reconciliation, the 

Respondent Husband finally revealed that his procrastination in building the promised home for his 

family was that he had to have the fmancial assistance ofhis multimillionaire father to build such a 

house, and that his father was insisting on a post-nuptial agreement to protect what was anticipated 

to be a $750,000.00 investment. 

Bowles Rice, LLP, the corporate attorneys employed by the Respondent Husband's 

father, were engaged to and did draft the post-nuptial agreement. The Wife had the services of a 

local Glenville attorney,4 Timothy Butcher, who was a friend to both Parties herein. 

Petitioner Wife had alleged and argued from the onset of the underlying action that 

said PNA, which, as stated, was prepared at the insistence of the Respondent Husband's father, I. L. 

Morris, and drafted by corpora~e counsel of the Respondent Husband's father, was entered into by 

the Petitioner Wife under duress, coercion, and undue influence. 

4There is some lingering question whether the Petitioner Wife's counsel was 

"independent", where her attorney testified at the July 11,2012 hearing that he was paid for his 

representation of the Petitioner Wife by the Respondent Husband's paving his, the lawyer's, 

residential driveway, or by some other in-kind compensation from the Respondent Husband. 
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Indeed, Petitioner's counsel Timothy Butcher testified on the record at the July 11, 

2012 trial that the Respondent Husband and his father's attorney definitely "held [the PNA-house 

connection] over the Petitioner Wife's head", in that, the Petitioner Wife's attorney was clearly and 

directly informed by counsel for the Respondent Husband that if she, the Petitioner, did not sign the 

Post-Nuptial Agreement, then the Respondent Husband would not complete construction on the 

then pending and now former marital home; i.e., "no signature, no house". 5 See also Appendix, p. 

31. 

Moreover, the Petitioner Wife's attorney advised her not to sign the PNA, but, out 

of an overriding desire to have an acceptable house built for her and her children consistent with her 

and the children's prior standard ofliving, the Petitioner Wife signed anyway.6 See Appendix, p. 

32. After some negotiation on some minor points (but receiving no corroboration of 

listed.property values- Appendix, p. 32) and, at that time, after near~y seventeen (17) years of a 

tenuous if not difficult marriage and two (2) children, the Parties subscribed to the February 11, 

2009 Post-Nuptial Agreement (hereafter 'PNA'). See Appendix, pp.l through 19. 

Said PNA, which was also entered into more than seventeen (17) years after the 

February 6, 1992 formation ofFlying "W" Plastics, Inc., (hereafter Flying 'W') the ownership 

interests ofwhich were represented,jor thefirst time on appeal to the Circuit Court below, or after 

the trial before the Family Court Judge, to have been given by the Respondent Husband's wealthy 

father to the Respondent Husband and his lawyer sister, Shelly Morris Demarino, during the 

marriage. The Respondent Husband and his sister, were and are the only shareholders of the closely 

SIn-court testimony of attorney Timothy Butcher on July 11, 2012, which was 
corroborated on the same date by the testimony of the Petitioner. 

6Ibid. 
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held corporation which elected to become a "Subchapter S" or "flow through" corporation, effective 

July 1,2007.7 

The evidence was unrefuted at trial, and even confirmed by the Respondent 

Husband himself by his own sworn testimony in open Court, that he had exercised an active and a 

high level of administrative participation on a daily basis in Flying "W". 

Inspecting the document itself, the terms of the PNA under scrutiny basically 

consigned said Subchapter S Corporation (Flying 'W') and other marital assets, constituting 98.11 % 

ofthe marital estate unto the Respondent Husband, while the Petitioner Wife took only 1.89% of 

such assets. In addition, said PNA contained only summary statements of finances by the Parties; 

i.e., no full financial disclosure was made due to an absence ofany supporting documentation 

attached to the PNA. Appendix, pp. 15 through 18. 

Also, .the Respondent Husband greatly understated his projected income for the 

PNA year of2009. The Respondent Husband reported on the PNA that his estimated annual 

income for 2009 would be $231,000. Appendix, p. 16. In actuality, the Parties' adjusted gross 

income for 2009 was $889,862, or almost four (4) times more than the Respondent Husband led the 

Wife to believe. In comparison to 2008, the year prior to the PNA, the Parties earned $1,931,914, 

which income, as well as, the aforesaid 2009 earnings, were the products solely of the Respondent 

Husband's efforts because the Petitioner Wife did not work during that year of2008 or the 

following year of 2009. Compare Appendix, p. 16 with pp. 154 and 158. 

Ofequal significance, the PNA failed to include all marital or arguable marital 

assets. Several working interests in oil and gas wells across central West Virginia, as well as, the 

7The 2011 gross receipts of Flying "W" were $40,773,394.00, and $28,556,061.00 in 

2010. See Appendix pp. 174 and 173, respectively, which were Petitioner's Exhibits at trial on 

December 26,2012. 
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very double wide modular home the Petitioner Wife was seeking to leave were not listed in the 

PNA attachments. 

Furthermore, the retained earnings8 held by the aforesaid Corporation under the 

Parties' named account, was not mentioned in the PNA. Petitioner Wife maintained that even if 

the PNA were valid and enforceable, the retained earnings were not corporate assets, and thus, 

distributable, because the Parties had paid taxes on said earnings before and after the execution of 

the PNA. The Petitioner Wife also contended that, even ifthe PNA were upheld as to the 

Corporation, those post PNA retained earnings had been commingled with other corporate assets 

and monies, thus causing a transmutation of the Flying "W" Corporation, or at least its financial 

accounts, into marital assets. 

Lastly, in the PNA, the new house for which the Petitioner Wife gave up so much, 

.was to be lived in by !he Petitioner Wife "rent free" in the event ofa divorce, with the Respondent 

Husband servicing the mortgage until the Parties sold the marital residence, at which time the 

Petitioner Wife would receive all proceeds in excess of the mortgage payoff; provided, however, the 

Respondent Husband had the right offIrst refusal. See Appendix, p. 8. As something ofa· 

postscript, the Petitioner Wife also testifIed at trial on July 11, 2012 that the Respondent Hus1;>and 

had failed to honor her whole consideration for signing off on the PNA; viz., the promised marital 

house was never fInished, which position the Respondent Husband minimized by saying that only 

minor facets of the construction such as landscaping and closet doors remained undone. 

In essence, the Petitioner Wife contended that the terms of said February 11, 2009 

Post-Nuptial Agreement were unfair and unconscionable to her, and that despite having had access 

8Retained earnings carried by Flying "W" in the name ofthe Respondent Husband and his 

sister for December 2011 were $11,853,631.13 and $14,343,307.86 as of the end ofDecember 

2012. See Appendix, pp. 180 and 181. 
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to legal advice, coercion in the form ofdenying her and her children the upscale home for which she 

had left a stately domicile in Virginia four (4) years past, was present and overwhelmed what would 

have otherwise been an unacceptable trade offin the context of the PNA. Secondarily, the 

Petitioner Wife posited that even if the PNA were upheld, the retained earnings of Flying "W", in 

not being mentioned in the PNA, were marital assets upon which the Parties had paid taxes, and 

thus, the same were distributable in the pending divorce action. 

The Respondent Husband countered that the Petitioner Wife, a college graduate, 

had voluntarily and knowingly entered into the PNA, in disregard of the advice of counsel, and that 

his, the Respondent Husband's, undocumented financial disclosure was of no serious moment. 

Regarding the omission of retained earnings in the PNA, the Respondent Husband urged that the 

same were corporate and not marital assets, and the retained earnings were therefore included in the 

PNA's release ofFlying "W" to him. 

.Both Parties agreed that the validity and enforceability of the PNA should first be 

determined because the of the impact the Family Court's decision would have on the remaining 

issues of the divorce proper. Trial on the viability of the PNA commenced on June 22, 2012, and 

the taking of evidence continued and concluded on July 11,2012. 

At the close of the July 11, 2012 hearing, the Family Court Judge found that the 

PNA should be upheld, primarily because the Petitioner Wife had freely, voluntarily and knowingly 

entered into the February 11,2009 PNA, without force or threat; however, the retained earnings of 

Flying "W" were deemed to be marital assets subject to distribution. Appendix, p. 34. 

The Final Hearing in the divorce was scheduled for December 26, 2012 for the 

purpose ofconcluding the case and determining the amount ofthe retained earnings on the January 
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7,2012 separation date, and the method for distribution thereof. At the conclusion of the evidence, 

the Family Court Judge, for the purposes of this appeal, divorced the Parties, and ruled that his 

former decision as to the validity and enforceabilty of the PNA would be reversed on the grounds of 

being inequitable, when one considered other marital assets not covered by the PNA. Appendix, p. 

41. 

Pursuant to West Virginia Code §48-8-103, the Family Court Judge next awarded 

lump sum alimony to the Petitioner Wife in the form of one-half (Y2) of all of the Respondent 

Husband's interest in Flying "W", being 25% ofthe common stock of said Corporation. See 

Appendix, p. 45. Moreover, the Family Court Judge ordered that the Petitioner Wife was entitled to 

one-half(Y2) of the retained earnings account attributable to the Respondent Husband as of the 

January 7,2012 separation date. Appendix, p. 45. 

Interestingly, on the day after the Family Court Judge's pronounced opinion, or 

, 

December 27,2012, but before the February 19, 2013 entry of the conforming Final Divorce 

-Decree, the Respondent Husband moved to and did execute and comply with every part of the 

December 26,2012 ruling, save the apportionment of the retained earnings account. See Appendix, 

pp. 37- 49. When the Family Court Judge, upon the Petitioner Wife's objection to the retained 

earnings omission in the Respondent Husband's draft of the Final Divorce Decree, made the 

Paragraph N. interlineation in the Final Divorce Decree respecting the same, only then did the 

Respondent Husband decide that he wanted to appeal the entire December 26, 2012 ruling of the 

Family Court Judge, entered February 19, 2013. Appendix, pp. 50 - 93. 

The Respondent Husband filed his Petition for Appeal and Motion for Stay on 

March 20,2013. See Appendix, pp. 50 - 93. The Petitioner Wife lodged her Reply and her 
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Counter-Petition for Appeal on March 27,2013. See Appendix, pp. 94 - 119. Respondent 

Husband, in turn, responded to the Petitioner Wife's Cross-Petition on April 9, 2013, to which 

Petitioner Wife replied on April 22, 2013. See Appendix, pp. 120 - 135 and Appendix, pp. 136

141, respectively. 

Argument was had on the Parties' appeals on May 28,2013. Through his Order of 

July 15,2013, the Circuit Court of Gilmer County, the Honorable Richard Facemire presiding, 

completely reversed the Family Court's. February 19,2013 decision on all points, and granted the 

aforesaid appeal by the Respondent Husband. Appendix, pp. 144-151. 

Hence, this appeal is made to overturn the July 15,2013 decision of the Circuit 

Court below and reinstate in its entirety the February 19, 2013 ruling of the Family Court of Gilmer 

County below. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Post-nuptial agreements require the closest scrutiny in order to insure fairness and 

to guard against even subtle, much less overt, coercion. Weighty considerations of children, health, 

age, and standards ofliving, as well as, heavy investments of time, sweat and youth may cause a 

marriage partner to enter into an onerous and one-sided post-nuptial agreement, which elements are 

not present in pre-nuptial contracts. 

Any post-nuptial agreement that consigns to a husband 98.11% or $4,662,738,00 

ofthe entire marital estate $4,752,738.00, while giving the wife of a nineteen (19) year marriage 

only 1.89% ofsaid marital estate, or $90,000.00, is presumptively unfair and inequitable, and is 

invalid and unenforceable on its face. When one adds to the mix of facts here the undisguised and 

stark extortion of the Petitioner Wife's signature to such an agreement in order for her to have a 

home on the comfort level ofher previous domicile and as fulfillment of an enticement to reconcile 
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from a fonner separation, the undue influence becomes as obvious as the inequity. The coercion 

and undue influence is not any less real because the Petitioner Wife may have had the services ofan 

attorney. Quite the contrary, acquiescence in a clearly prejudicial and gender biased post-nuptial 

agreement over the objection ofher attorney underscores the degree of the coercion in its 

acquisition. 

Retained earnings in a flow through corporation were taxed to these Parties each 

year after the 2007 "Sub S" election. Even after the advent of the nefarious February 11, 2009 

PNA, the Parties, not the Flying "W" corporation, paid taxes on those retained earnings and the 

accounts were carried in the name of the shareholders. The retained earnings of the Corporation 

were not used for corporate purposes, but rather a stock buy-out of a fonner shareholder's widow,

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