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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

By this appeal, Petitioner is attempting to acquire half of 

Respondent's valuable separate property consisting of his 

interests in Flying "W" Plastics, Inc. However, Petitioner 

faces several significant legal hurdles. First, during the 

marriage, when both parties were happily married and anticipated 

remaining married, the parties executed a valid and enforceable 

post-nuptial agreement wherein Petitioner/wife acknowledged 

Respondent/husband's interest in Flying "W" Plastics, Inc. was 

the Husband's separate property -- valued at approximately $4.5 

million (including retained earnings) and gifted to him by his 

father -- and then knowingly and permanently waived any marital 

interest that she might arguably have had in that company. 

Further, notwithstanding the waiver, the husband's interest in 

Flying "W" Plastics, Inc. has always been his "separate property" 

under West Virginia law, and is not subject to equitable 

distribution in divorce. Next, even if the terms of the 

Agreement resulted in a substantially inequitable distribution of 

property, the Agreement was nonetheless validly procured, and 
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fundamentally fair, as that term is interpreted in the context of 

marital agreements, as expressed by this Court in Gant vs. Gantt 

174 W.Va. 740, 329 S.E.2d 106 (1985). The Family Court's 

reasoning for finding the Agreement to be "inequitable," and 

therefore invalidating the Agreement, is fundamentally flawed: 

the retained earnings of a corporation belong to the company 

itself, not its shareholders; the company's retained earnings 

were neces'sarily accounted for and included in the valuation of 

the company as disclosed to Petitioner prior to signing the 

Agreement; and therefore, retained earnings should never be the 

sole basis of a judicial determination that a contemplated 

distribution of marital assets is inequitable. 

In her Brief, Petitioner relies on several alleged 

Assignments of Error, all of which center upon the argument that 

enforcement of the Agreement would result in an inequitable or 

unfair distribution of marital property. First, Petitioner 

contends that the Circuit Court committed error by not employing 

an indeterminate, but higher, standard of review for "post

nuptial" agreements. She then argues that enforcement of the 

Agreement would not withstand this higher scrutiny because the 

Agreement is unfair. In support, Petitioner argues that 

distribution of marital assets contemplated by the Agreement was 
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"vastly disproportionate," and the Agreement omitted or 

misrepresented the value of marital property and income. In 

support of her contention that the Agreement was unfair, 

Petitioner also argues that the Agreement was the product of 

coercion, undue influence or duress. 4 Finally, Petitioner's 

argument that the Agreement should be set aside as inequitable 

and unfair is based on her presumption that the Respondent's 

interests in Flying "W" Plastics, Inc., as well as the retained 

earnings of the company, are marital property, thus tipping the 

balance of the distribution heavily in favor of 

Respondent/husband. 

Regarding Petitioner's first Assignment of Error, West 

Virginia does not recognize a distinction between post-nuptial 

agreements and pre-nuptial agreements when assessing the validity 

of a marital, or separation agreement. See W. Va. Code §48-6-101 

et seq. Recognizing this, the Circuit Court properly applied West 

Virginia law by examining whether both parties to the Agreement 

were represented by independent counsel. Affirming the Family 

Court's finding that the parties were both adequately represented 

Petitioner's argument regarding coercion, undue influence, or duress, was 
not an express assignment of error in her Brief, but is incorporated into her 
second Assignment of Error -- that the Agreement was generally unfair. Both the 
Family Court'and the Circuit Court below rejected the Petitioner's argument that 
the Agreement was the product of coercion, undue influence, or duress, and 
focused instead on whether the Agreement was inequitable. 
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by independent counsel, the Circuit Court then analyzed whether 

the document was executed voluntarily, with knowledge of its 

content and legal effect, under circumstances free of fraud, 

duress, or misrepresentation, was not unconscionable, and was 

therefore validly procured. Again, the Circuit Court examined 

these factual issues, affirmed the Family Court's findings, and 

held that the Agreement was validly procured and should be upheld 

under principles expressed in Gant v. Gant, 174 W.Va. 740, 329 

S.E.2d 106' (1985), and Ware v. Ware, 687 S.E.2d 382, 384 (2009). 

The Circuit Court then properly ordered the distribution of 

property to proceed in accordance with the intent of the parties 

as express~d in the Agreement. 

This case presents no valid reason to change the law in West 

Virginia regarding interpretation of marital agreements, or to 

require the Circuit Court to deviate from its straightforward 

application of West Virginia law as stated in its Order. In this 

matter, applying Petitioner's proposed but undefined "heightened 

scrutiny" to the Agreement serves no purpose. In Gan t supra,I 

this Court carefully examined modern marital contracts, 

recognizing that "courts still reserve more authority to review 

the substantive terms of prenuptial contracts than they do 

commercial contracts," and establishing a court's right to 
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conduct a limited inquiry into the fairness of marital 

agreements, inquiring whether the agreement is unconscionable as 

that term is defined under contract law. Thus, the circumstances 

and reasoning behind Petitioner's proposed "special scrutiny" for 

certain marital agreements, over and above traditional contract 

law, was considered and largely adopted by this Court in Ware and 

Gant. 

Further, the alleged undue influence, coercion, or duress, 

that Petitioner suggests deserved more careful scrutiny at the 

lower court level, was duly considered by the Family Court. The 

Family Court rejected the allegation that the Agreement was the 

product of undue influence, coercion or duress, and the Circuit 

Court affirmed that factual finding. Petitioner cannot 

demonstrate that additional or "heightened scrutiny" of the 

validity of the Agreement is necessary or proper in this case, or 

as a practical matter, would have made any difference. 

Addressing Petitioner's second Assignment of Error, even if 

this Court were to change the established analysis of the 

validity and enforceability of marital agreements as set out in 

Gant and Ware, the distribution of marital property set forth in 

the Agreement is clearly more than fair to the Petitioner. The 

Petitioner's second Assignment of Error, that the Agreement was 
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unfair and inequitable, relies on misrepresentations of the 

facts, and, inappropriately uses the company's assets, or retained 

earnings, to shift the balance of the distribution in favor of 

the Respondent. In fact, the actual distribution of marital 

assets contemplated by the Agreement weighs heavily in favor of 

the Petitioner/wife, who would share equally in all marital 

property, but also receive the entire value of the marital home 

worth approximately $750, 000.00, the parties' marital asset of 

greatest worth. In short, Petitioner's argument that enforcement 

of the Agreement would achieve an unfair or inequi table result 

misconstrues or misstates the facts, and is demonstrably false. 

It is the Petitioner/wife who gets the overwhelming majority of 

marital assets. 

Lastly, Petitioner's argument that the Accumulated 

Adjustment Account ("AAA") , or retained earnings, of Flying "W" 

Plastics, Inc., is the marital property of the couple subject to 

equitable distribution in divorce, is simply untenable. The 

bedrock legal principle to be observed in examining the retained 

earnings of a Subchapter S-corporation in this context is that 

the retained earnings are the property of the company itself, and 

not the shareholding spouse. Retained earnings are the 

undistributed profits of the company, and they should be no more 
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subject to equitable distribution than the company's computers, 

inventory, pallet jacks, trust accounts, insurance, or any other 

asset belonging to the company. Petitioner's Brief presents the 

Court with a "red herring," suggesting that the tax structure of 

the S-corporation, in which tax on company profits "flow through" 

to the shareholders, should operate to somehow convert company 

property to marital property. 

Such an interpretation of an S-corporation's retained 

earnings is fundamentally incorrect, represents a myopic approach 

to the bigger question of the spousal interest In the S

corporation, creates the danger of double recovery for the non

shareholding spouse, and potentially unfairly degrades the shares 

other shar'eholders. Moreover, such an interpretation would have 

potentially devastating repercussions on the administration and 

management of S-corporations in this State. Accordingly, the 

decision of the Circuit Court regarding the retained earnings of 

Flying "W" Plastics, Inc. should not be disturbed. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

This appeal presents a dispositive issue that has been 

authoritatively decided. Accordingly, under West Virginia Rule 

of Appellate Procedure Rule 18 (a) (3) , oral argument is 
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unnecessary. If the Court determines that oral argument is 

necessary, the case is suitable for Rule 19 oral argument, as 

Petitioners bring assignments of error which trigger the 

application of settled law. 

ARGUMENT 

I. The Circuit Court Applied the Proper Legal Standard 
in Upholding and Enforcing the Parties' "Agreement 
Respecting Marital Rights." 

The Petitioner's first Assignment of Error contends that the 

Circuit Court erred in applying settled West Virginia law 

regarding the validity and enforcement of marital agreements, and 

not a stricter standard requiring closer examination of whether 

the distribution of marital property contemplated by post-nuptial 

agreements is equitable, or fundamentally fair. However, the 

Circuit Court's application of West Virginia law was correct, and 

this case ,presents no valid basis to impose a higher standard in 

evaluating! the validity and enforceability of post-nuptial 

marital agreements. s Moreover, the distribution of assets 

Notably, the one West Virginia case cited by the Petitioner, 
expressly stated that "[w]e think the question of whether the marriage 
settlement contract is to be considered as being antenuptial or 
postnuptial can be of little significance, however, in view of our 
construction of the contract." Welsh v. Welsh, 69 S.E.2d 34, 37 (W. Va. 
1952). Even so, much of guidance in Welsh was clearly overruled by Gant 
v. Gant, 174 W. Va. 740, 745, 329 S.E.2d 106, 111 (1985). 
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contemplated by the Agreement in this case was, in fact, 

fundamenta,lly equitable. 

In the West Virginia case of Gant v. Gant, the lower court 

had invalidated a pre-nuptial marriage agreement on the grounds 

that the agreement was "unfair, inequitable, overreaching, and 

that it did not take into account the size of the parties' 

estates." ,174 W.Va. 740,745, 329 S.E.2d 106, 111 (1985) (overruled 

on other grounds by Ware v. Ware, 224 W. Va. 599, 687 S.E.2d 382 

(2009» . In Gant, this Court took a long look at the legal 

history of marital contracts, the changing landscape of social 

attitudes toward marriage, and applied a reasoned approach to 

enforcemen:t of marital agreements that focused on the validity of 

the agreement, and the foreseeability of the consequences of the 

agreement. The Gant Court recognized that "the basic requirement 

of a prenuptial contract is fundamental fairness ... under the 

totality of the circumstances." Gant, at 745, 112. However, the 

Court noted that: 
; 

[Marital agreements] will almost always be entered into 
between people with property or an income potential to 
prote'ct on one side and people who are impecunious on 
the other. Measuring an agreement by an undefined 
judicial standard of fairness is an invitation to the 
very, wealth redistribution that these agreements are 
designed to prevent." 
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Gant, at 1,14, 748. The Court stated that "we are loathe to apply 

a vague and entirely subj ective standard of \ fairness. ' " Id. 

Instead, borrowing from the reasoning of other jurisdictions, the 

Gant Court stressed that "fairness" in the setting of a marriage 

agreement, is concerned with "foreseeability." Id. at 114-115, 

748. In Gant, the Court applied this foreseeability/fairness 

inquiry and found that, in that case, "circumstances have 

transpired exactly as the parties foresaw that they might 

transpire at the time the prenuptial agreement was made." In 

other words, as the Gant Court emphasized, "fair" means that "you 
, 

saw this coming." 

Lastly, the Court expressly rejected an analysis that 

focused on whether a marital agreement was equitable, or 

substantially fair. "[N]o matter what rules we adopt there will 

be cases when the application of those rules will be inequitable 

Unless a prenuptial agreement is so outrageous as to come 

within the unconscionability principles as developed in 

commercial contract law, W. Va. Code §46-2-302 [1963], West 

Virginia courts will not evaluate the substantive fairness of 

prenuptial, agreements; most prenuptial agreements are designed to 

protect the property interests of the stronger party." Id. at 

116, 749. ' 
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Applying Gant's reasoning to this case, it is clear that no 

error was committed by the Circuit Court in upholding and 

reinstating the Agreement. The Family Court's error in 

invalidating the Agreement because it created an "inequitable" or 

unequal distribution of property was based on its clearly wrong 

finding that retained earnings were "marital property." The 

Circuit Court corrected that error. The Agreement was not 

unconscionable as the Petitioner/wife suggests, claiming that the 

Respondent/husband was to receive 98.11% of the assets, compared 

to the Petitioner/wife's 1.89%. Excluding the clearly separate 

asset of Flying "W" stock, the marital assets were actually to be 

divided nearly equally, as the Family Court found, not even 

counting or considering that the Petitioner/wife would enjoy, 

ownership and sole possession of the parties' upscale $750,000 

house. If anything would "shock the conscience" it is that the 

Petitioner/wife walked away with the parties' major marital 

asset, the home. However, the Respondent/husband was clearly 

fine with that and did not and does not complain. There is 

nothing "unfair" about upholding this Agreement. Just like in 

Gant, things transpired just as the parties expected or foresaw 

in three short years after they made the Agreement. 
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Petit'ioner/wife's theory that post-nuptial agreements should 

be judged by a different, higher standard than pre-nuptial 

agreements does not withstand rational scrutiny. Unlike couples 

contemplating marriage, spouses have lived the reality of 

marriage and do not need to engage in speculation, but can create 

contracts which confront the problems they are currently facing. 

Such agreements are, if anything, likely to be more equitable 

than the pre-nuptial agreements, and they are largely self

regulating,. The spouse who chooses not to sign a post-nuptial 

agreement has an alternative: divorce. By entering into a post

nuptial agreement, spouses are contracting, privately, to assure 

a certain and predictable result, if, in fact, the divorce 

alternative becomes necessary. 

In the case of the Morrises, Petitioner/wife, by signing the 

Agreement, guaranteed that she would have the ownership and 

possession of the "upscale" $750,000 house and its possessions, 

half of 'the other marital assets, and substantial spousal 

support, equal ing $ 9 0 0, 000 alone, were she to remain unmarr ied 

for fifteen (15) years following a divorce. What did she give 

up? Nothing, really, inasmuch as the Respondent/husband's 

interest in the closely-held corporation would have been his 

"separate 'property" not subj ect to distribution in the divorce. 
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Her gains, however, were substantial. What did he give up? 1) 

The uncertainty of a spousal support award, since this state has 

no alimony formula and the amount which might have been awarded 

his stay-at-home wife would have solely been the decision of a 

single judge, and 2) an "upscale" home, which really was not an 

overriding concern for him. It is interesting to note, too, that 

when the Family Court stopped the agreed monthly spousal support 

award in favor of a "lump sum" spousal support grant of half of 

the Respondent/husband's stock, effective January 1, 2013, 

Petitioner/wife soon afterwards claimed to be in "dire financial 

straits." Appendix, p. 107.

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